Elements of folktale and fairy tale in Harry Potter and Deathly Hallows

Kalazić, Lea

Master's thesis / Diplomski rad

2021

Degree Grantor / Ustanova koja je dodijelila akademski / stručni stupanj: University of Zagreb, Faculty of Teacher Education / Sveučilište u Zagrebu, Učiteljski fakultet

Permanent link / Trajna poveznica: https://urn.nsk.hr/urn:nbn:hr:147:050959

Rights / Prava: In copyright/Zaštićeno autorskim pravom.

Download date / Datum preuzimanja: 2024-05-11

Repository / Repozitorij:

<u>University of Zagreb Faculty of Teacher Education</u> -<u>Digital repository</u>





SVEUČILIŠTE U ZAGREBU UČITELJSKI FAKULTET ODSJEK ZA UČITELJSKE STUDIJE

Lea Kalazić

ELEMENTS OF FOLKTALE AND FAIRY TALE INHARRY POTTER AND THE DEATHLY HALLOWS

Diplomski rad

SVEUČILIŠTE U ZAGREBU

UČITELJSKI FAKULTET

ODSJEK ZA UČITELJSKE STUDIJE

(Zagreb)

Lea Kalazić

ELEMENTS OF FOLKTALE AND FAIRY TALE IN $HARRY\ POTTER\ AND\ THE$ $DEATHLY\ HALLOWS$

Diplomski rad

Mentor rada:

prof. dr. sc. Marina Gabelica

Sumentor rada:

dr.sc. Nada Kujundžić

Zagreb,rujan 2021.

Zahvale

Ovim bih se putem željela zahvaliti mojoj mentorici, profesorici Marini Gabelici, na povelikoj količini razumijevanja, pomoći i mailova u kojima mi je sve poteškoće pomogla riješiti i smiriti me.

Isto tako, željela bih se zahvaliti i profesorici Nadi Kujundžić koja je bila sa mnom od početka pisanja ovoga rada, koja je čitala sve verzije i, nažalost morala ih i prepravljati, a bilo ih je... Profesorice hvala Vam na razumijevanju, hvala Vam što ste prenijeli Vašu ljubav prema bajkama na predavanjima i seminarima i između ostalog najviše Vam hvala što ste potaknuli pisanje ovoga rada.

Osoba bez čije magične intervencije ovaj rad danas ne bi postojao je najbolja osoba na svijetu – Sara. Hvala ti neizmjerno na otkrivanju magičnog svijeta Harry Pottera!! Hvala ti što si slušala sva moja promišljanja, sve ljubavi, i ono drugo, o likovima iz knjige! © Hvala ti za apsolutno sve u ovih dvadeset godina!

Isto tako, željela bih se zahvaliti svim predivnim ljudima koji su mi pomogli tijekom studiranja prilagoditi se životu u Zagrebu, studiranju i tako dalje. Hvala Vam na svim lekcijama, na svim druženjima i na osjećaju da imam svoju malenu obitelj u vama!

Reći hvala mami ili sestri čini se pomalo nemoguće s obzirom da za početak ne bih studirala na ovom fakultetu da nije bilo žrtve moje mame, a za psihičku stabilnost tijekom studiranja moram zahvaliti sestri! © Hvala vam objema na svemu! Hvala vam što ste tu uz mene – *Always* – i što imate razumijevanja za mene! Hvala!

SUMMARY

The aim of this thesis is to analyse folk and fairy tale elements in the final novel in J. K. Rowling's *Harry Potter* series – *Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows*. It should be noted that the thesis does not claim that the novel is a fairy tale; it merely points out the elements it shares with the fairy tale. The analyses focuses on the following fairy-tale elements: form (beginning and ending), characters, themes and motifs. The analysed themes and motifs include the battle between good and evil, mothers and maternal love, family relationships, magical creatures and magical objects. The thesis examines how Rowling uses familiar folk and fairy-tale characters, themes, and plot elements and adapts them to the complex story of her novel. The thesis also examines "The Tale of Three Brothers", a fairy tale which plays an important role in the novel.

Key words: fairy tale, folk tale, *Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows*, J. K. Rowling, "The Tale of Three Brothers"

SAŽETAK

Cilj ovog diplomskog rada je analizirati elemente usmenihpričai bajki u posljednjem romanu iz serijala o Harryju Potteru J. K. Rowling, *Harry Potter i Darovi smrti*. Važno je naglasiti da cilj ovoga istraživanja nije dokazati da je roman*Harry Potter i Darovi smrti* bajka, već odrediti koje elemente dijeli s žanrom bajke. Analizom su obuhvaćeni sljedeći elementi bajke i usmene priče: forma (početak i kraj), likovi, teme i motivi. Analizirane teme i motivi uključuju borbu između dobra i zla, majke i majčinsku ljubav, obiteljske odnose, čarobna bića i čarobne predmete. U radu se istražuje na koji način Rowling koristi likove, teme i elemente zapleta poznate iz bajke i usmene priče i prilagođava ih složenoj priči njenog romana. U radu se također analizira "Priča o tri brata", bajka koja igra važnu ulogu u romanu.

Ključne riječi: bajka, *Harry Potter i Darovi smrti*, J. K. Rowling, "Priča o tri brata", usmena priča

Contents

1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. The H <i>arry Potter</i> series	3
2.1 The story of Harry Potter	4
2.1.1 Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows	4
3. DEFINING FAIRY TALES	9
3.1 About fairy tales	9
3.2. Form	10
3.3 Language and style	11
3.4 Motifs and themes	11
3.5Setting: where are we?	12
3.6Characters	12
3.7 Summary	13
4. ANALYSIS	14
4.1 Structure: beginning and end	14
4.2. Themes and motifs	15
4.2.1. Good vs. evil	15
4.2.2. Mothers and maternal love	16
4.2.3. Family relationships	17
4.2.4. Magical creatures	19
4.2.5. Magical objects	20
4.3. Characters: good or evil?	21
4.3.1 Harry Potter	22
4.3.2. Lord Voldemort	23
4.3.3 Draco Malfoy	24
4.3.4. Severus Snape: Shapeshifter	25
4.4 Story within a story: "The Tale of Three Brothers"	26
5. CONCLUSION	29
REFERENCES	31
Izjava o samostalnoj izradi rada	36
Figure 1. Symbol of the Deathly Hallows	6

1. INTRODUCTION

Almost everybody has heard at least one fairy tale in their lives. In western societies, these stories are mostly read or told to children before bedtime. Even though many people regard fairy tales as little more than bed-time stories which, "cannot be taken seriously" since "children believe in them, read them and listen to them" (Zipes 2012, 95), they still encounter fairy-tale plots and themes through mass media, such as movies, TV series, game shows, video games, etc. Many contemporary writers find inspiration in folklore and folk tales, especially fairy tales. This inspiration is found in one of the most popular book series of the 21st century, J.K. Rowling's *Harry Potter*.

The main question in this thesis is which fairy-tale elements can be found in the final novel in the *Harry Potter* series— *Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows* (2007). The aim is to determine how elements of the novel such as themes, motifs, and characters, can be compared to those found in fairy tales and how they are different from them.

The importance of fairy tales for the *Harry Potter* series has already been recognized by many scholars, who have used various approaches to study the fairy-tale elements found in Rowling's books. The collections of articles Critical Perspective on Harry Potter (2009), edited by Elizabeth E. Heilman, includes several chapters on the influence of folklore and fairy tales on Rowling, especially Anne Hiebert Alton's "Playing the Genre Game: Generic Fusions of the Harry Potter Series" and Maria Nikolajeva's "Harry Potter and the Secrets of Children's Literature". The Ivory Tower and Harry Potter (2002), edited by Lana A. Whited, which only explores the first four books, also contains papers which examine the novels' roots in myths, folklore, and fairy tales, especially Marry Pharr's "In Medias Res: Harry Potter as Hero-in-Progress" and M. Katherine Grimes's "Harry Potter: Fairy Tale Prince, Real Boy, and Archetypal Hero". Mohammad Kawish Haider (2016) examines the elements of myth, folklore, and fairy tale in fantasy in general and *Harry Potter* in particular, while Joel Hunter (2014) uses Vladimir Propp's theory of fairy tales to explain why Rowling's books have gained such success. In "The Phenomenon of Harry Potter or Why All the Talk" (2009), Jack Zipes claims that the story of *Harry Potter* is not something new and expresses his concerns regarding what it teaches children. Mark Patrick Hederman (2007) explains why Harry Potter can be seen as an archetypal hero. While most of these studies focus on the entire series, this thesis focuses only on the final novel.

The thesis consists of five chapters. Following this introduction, Chapter 2 dives into the significance of the *Harry Potter* series, its global success and influence on readers. It also summarizes the events in the series and describes the plot of *Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows* in more detail. Chapter 3 is dedicated to fairy tales: it defines the genre and discusses its key elements, specifically, form, language and style, characters, themes and motifs. Chapter 4 uses the knowledge about fairy tales to analyse *Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows*. It starts by discussing fairy-tale themes and motifs in the novel: the battle between good and evil, mothers and maternal love, family relationships, and magic (magical creatures and objects). It then analyses four characters – Harry Potter, Lord Voldemort, Professor Severus Snape and Draco Malfoy – and questions whether they can be described as purely good or purely evil. The chapter ends by examining the novel's story within a story, "The Tale of Three Brothers". Chapter 5 concludes the thesis and summarizes its main findings.

While the *Harry Potter* series has already been researched and discussed many times, what encouraged me to explore this topic is how in *The Deathly Hallows* (perhaps naturally since it is the final novel in the series) Rowling sums up everything she had previously written and everything she had learned about folklore, folktales and fairy tales. By combining all the creatures, characters, magic, and so much more into one book, she has created a happy place for readers to come back to, because "Hogwarts will always be there to welcome you home" (Cetin 2011, 1).

2. The Harry Potter series

The aim of this chapter is to give an overview of J.K. Rowling's *Harry Potter* series, its popularity and influence. The chapter will also provide a summary of the plot of the series, as well as a more detail description of the plot of the final novel, which is the main focus of this thesis.

Harry Potter is a series of seven fantasy novels for young adults, written by British author J. K. Rowling. It encompasses the following novels: Harry Potter and the Philosopher's Stone (1997), Harry Potter and the Chamber of Secrets (1998), Harry Potter and the Prisoner of Azkaban (1999), Harry Potter and the Goblet of Fire (2000), Harry Potter and the Order of the Phoenix (2003), Harry Potter and the Half-Blood Prince (2005), and Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows (2007). The books were immensely successful: the SYFY Wirewebsite reports that the final book in the series became the fastest selling book in history (Weiss 2018). According to the official Harry Potter site, The Pottermore, the series "hit a huge milestone" in 2018 "with more than 500 million books sold all over the world, in 80 languages" (500 million, 2018). Furthermore, as Anne Hiebert Alton points out, the series "has been credited for a renaissance in reading for children all over the world [...] and has already become an integral part of our popular culture and academic discourses" (2008, 199).

When talking to Albus Dumbledore, Professor Minerva McGonagall predicted: "There will be books written about Harry – every child in our world will know his name" (Rowling 2015, 12). She could also be talking about the world outside the novel, in which Harry Potter is a character known to adults and children around the world, even to those who have not read the books.

Not only is the series so well accepted, but the vocabulary within the books is widely known and used to the point that the word *Muggle* ("nonmagic folk"; Rowling 2015, 41) has been added to the *Oxford English Dictionary*(McCaffrey 2003). Even *Quidditch*, a sport described in the books, has been brought to "our" world and played in 2005 at many universities, even at Harvard University to this day as the official sport ("Harvard Quidditch Club"). Following successful movies adaptations of the novels *–Harry Potter and the Philosopher's Stone* (2001), *Harry Potter and the Chamber of Secrets* (2002), *Harry Potter and the Prisoner of Azkaban* (2004), *Harry Potter and the Goblet of Fire* (2005), *Harry Potter and the Order of the Phoenix* (2007), *Harry Potter and the Half-Blood Prince* (2009), *Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows – Part 1* (2010), and finally *Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows – Part 2*

(2011)—Universal and Warner Brothers created two theme parks: The Wizarding World of Harry Potter (located in the Islands theme park at the Universal Orlando Resort in Florida) and The Making of Harry Potter(located atthe Warner Bros. Studios, Leavesden, where all eight of the *Harry Potter* films were made). If you have somehow missed any information about the books, or simply want to find out which Hogwarts house you belong to or what is your *Patronus*, you can visit the previously mentioned Pottermore website, where Rowling herself often writes and interacts with her fans.

2.1 The story of Harry Potter

The aim of this section is to first summarize the plot of the *Harry Potter* series, and then describe the plot of the final instalment – *Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows* – in more detail.

The story follows three friends – Harry Potter, Ron Weasley, and Hermione Granger – who are trying to fight the evil wizard, Lord Voldemort, and his army, the Death Eaters. Harry's parents are killed by Lord Voldemort, but Harry somehow manages to survive the Killing Curse, which leaves a lightning scar on his forehead as a constant reminder of the event and, even more importantly, creates a connection between him and Voldemort. Due to a prophecy he heard, Voldemort wants to kill Harry because he is the only one who can stop him from becoming the most powerful wizard in the world. Growing up in the care of his Muggle relatives the Dursleys, Harry is oblivious of the entire wizard community. However, all of that changes on his eleventh birthday, when Harry enrols in the Hogwarts School of Witchcraft and Wizardry, where he meets Ron and Hermione. Hogwarts is also a place where Harry repeatedly duels with Lord Voldemort and overcomes other problems that trouble every young person. Over time, he learns how to stay true to himself, and trust his instincts. But, more importantly he learns how to be a good friend, since Harry's friends are like a family to him, willing to protect him, love him and die for him. And he would without doubt do the same for them, as he did in the end.

2.1.1 Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows

The last novel in the series, *Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows*, starts with Harry Potter sitting in his room, reading articles about his deceased headmaster and dear mentor Albus Dumbledore. Before his death, Dumbledore left Harry with a difficult task – to find all the Horcruxes and destroy them. As Harry learned from his headmaster, a Horcrux is an object in

which a person can hide fragments of their soul in order to become immortal. Should a person die, another wizard can take the Horcrux and resurrect the deceased. To make a Horcrux, a person has to commit murder; to destroy it, one can use the Basilisk snake's venom, the Sword of Gryffindor, or the magical flame called Fiendyre.

As Ron, Harry and Hermione prepare to hunt down the Horcruxes, the Minister of Magic reads them Dumbledore's will. Harry gets a Golden Snitch, the ball he won while playing Quidditch for the first time. What makes this Snitch so special is that nobody but Harry can open it, since he is the one who caught it and it remembers his touch. Ron gets a Deluminator, a magical device used and designed by Albus Dumbledore to create or remove light sources from the immediate surroundings. Hermione receives a storybook entitled *The Tales of Beedle the Bard*. Dumbledore also passed on the Sword of Godric Gryffindor, but the Ministry refuses to give it to Harry because it was not Dumbledore's property. What is more interesting, the sword has gone missing. During the wedding of Ron's older brother Bill, the Ministry of Magic is taken over by Voldemort. The wedding guests and the entire opposition to Voldemort's reign (the so-called Order of the Phoenix) is hunted and interrogated to find out Harry's location. After that night, Voldemort begins hunting down and arresting every Muggle-born witch and wizard, and Harry's detested Professor Snape becomes the new Headmaster of Hogwarts.

The trio hides in the house that Harry's godfather Sirius Black left him, where they learn that Sirius's brother Regulus stole a Horcrux locket and hid it in the house. However, the locket was stolen by Mundungus Fletcher who handed it to Harry's former professor Dolores Umbridge, who now works at the Ministry of Magic. Harry, Ron and Hermione infiltrate the Ministry and steal the locket, but their safe place is discovered, forcing them to stay in the wilderness. Since they are unable to destroy the Horcrux, they decide to take turns wearing it. The darkness of the locket gradually affects all of them, most of all Ron who ultimately decides to leave. After some time, both Harry and Hermione travel to Harry's birthplace – Godric's Hollow – where Harry's wand is destroyed, but they manage to obtain a book containing all the "secrets" of their headmaster's life.

A few days later, Harry discovers the Sword of Gryffindor under a thick layer of ice. When he tries to get it, the locket around his neck nearly kills him, but Ron – who decided to re-join his friends and found them with the help of Dumbledore's Deluminator – saves him. In the book about Dumbledore, Hermione finds a connection between the sign drawn in *The Tales of*

Beedle the Bard and the one on a necklace worn by Xenophilius Lovegood, father of one of their schoolmates. Lovegood explains that the sign is the symbol of the Deathly Hallows: the straight line represents the Elder Wand, the circle on top is the Resurrection Stone, and the triangle which encloses both the line and the circle is the Cloak of Invisibility (see Figure 1). The trio gets really excited about this discovery, but then they find out that Lovegood's daughter Luna has been captured by the Death Eaters. The only way for Lovegood to save her is to betray Harry, so he calls the Death Eaters. Luckily, the trio escapes.



Figure 1. Symbol of the Deathly Hallows. Source: popartmachine.com.

Harry realizes that Voldemort is after the Elder Wand, which was put in the coffin next to Dumbledore. What makes the Elder Wand so desirable to Voldemort is the fact that it is said to be the most powerful wand that ever existed, able to perform feats of magic that would normally be impossible even for the most skilled wizards. However, Harry mentions Voldemort's name, which reveals their position, and they are captured and taken to the home of the Malfoy family. There they meet other prisoners: Luna Lovegood, Griphook the goblin, the wandmaker Ollivander, and another schoolmate named Dean Thomas. One of the Death Eaters, Bellatrix Lestrange, believes they stole the Sword of Gryffindor from her vault in Gringotts Wizarding Bank and tortures Hermione. With help of Dobby the elf, all seven prisoners escape. Before they leave, Harry takes all the wands his classmate and rival Draco Malfoy held in his hand.

After some time, Harry has a vision of Lord Voldemort breaking into Dumbledore's tomb and stealing the Elder Wand. This puts the trio in even greater danger, since Voldemort now has the greatest weapon. They decide to break into Bellatrix's vault at Gringotts, believing it to be

the location of the next Horcrux since she was so determined to make sure that they were not in there. With the help of Griphook, a Gringotts employee, they get inside the vault, but he tricks them and steals the Sword of Gryffindor. However, the trio manages to steal another Horcrux – Hufflepuff's cup.

During the escape, Harry has another vision of Voldemort, which reveals that another Horcrux is at Hogwarts. Harry, Ron and Hermione get inside the school with the help of Dumbledore's brother, Aberforth. When Voldemort finds out where Harry is, he decides to attack Hogwarts. While the teachers and students are defending the school, the trio tries to find and destroy the rest of the Horcruxes. Ron and Hermione destroy Hufflepuff's cup with a Basilisk fang, and Harry looks for Rowena Ravenclaw's diadem, which is destroyed with the help of a cursed fire.

Voldemort realizes that the Elder Wand he is using is not performing as it should. He believes that this is Snape's fault, since he is the one who killed the wand's previous owner Dumbledore. Voldemort therefore kills Snape, who allows Harry to see his memories before he dies. The memories reveal that Snape was in love with Harry's mother and played double agent against Voldemort the whole time. They also reveal that the last Horcrux is Harry himself.

Knowing what he must do, Harry tells his friend Neville Longbottom to kill Voldemort's snake because it is also a Horcrux. On his way to meet Voldemort, Harry takes his Snitch which holds the Resurrection Stone and is briefly reunited with his parents, Sirius Black, and Remus Lupin, who all promise to stay close to him. Voldemort immediately casts the Killing Curse, but Harry is not dead. He awakens in a dreamlike location somewhat resembling King's Cross station, where he meets Dumbledore, who explains how Harry turned out to be a Horcrux and that now that connection is lost. Believing that Harry is dead, Voldemort and the Death Eaters go to Hogwarts to display his body. As Neville kills the snake, Harry reveals that he is alive and the battle continues. Harry explains to Voldemort that it was not Professor Snape who was the master of the Elder Wand, it was Draco. Since Harry disarmed Draco, he was now the master of the Elder Wand. Voldemort tries to cast the Killing Curse on Harry, but the spell rebounds, killing Voldemort instead.

The novel ends with an epilogue: 19 years later, Harry, Ron, and Hermione are saying goodbye to their children as they board the train to Hogwarts. Harry's scar has not hurt in 19 years and "all was well" (Rowling 2012, 529).

After introducing the *Harry Potter* series in general and *Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows* in particular, the thesis now turns to its second key term: fairy tales. The next chapter will therefore provide a general definition of the fairy tale and discuss its key elements.

3. DEFINING FAIRY TALES

Before we move on to which fairy tale elements can be found in *Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows*, we need to define the genre a little bit more. In *The Greenwood Encyclopedia of Folktales and Fairy Tales*, Donald Haase writes that, for some, "the term fairy tale denotes a specific narrative form with easily identified characteristics, but for others it suggests not a singular genre but an umbrella category under which a variety of other forms may be grouped" (2007, 363). In order to better understand this quote and put emphasis on specific genre elements that are relevant for our analysis (see Chapter 4), this chapter will first explore how different scholars define the fairy tale and then examine its individual elements, specifically, form, language and style, themes and motifs, setting, and characters. In the end, the chapter will sum up what scholars have stated in a working definition of the fairy tale.

3.1 About fairy tales

According to Jack Zipes (and many other fairy-tale scholars), the fairy tale "is nearly impossible to define" because there are "thousands of literary fairy tales" which exist in many different versions and media, such as films, ballets, and advertisements (1988, 7). We do not know for sure when, where, and how fairy tales first appeared, but many scholars, such as Steven Swann Jones (2002, 3) and Marina Warner (2014, xviii), connect them with folklore and the oral tradition. The literary fairy tale "erupted and began to evolve and spread its branches and seeds" in the seventeenth century, and it continues to transform, and inspire artists and readers even today (Zipes 2013, 1).

Each fairy tale exists in many different versions created by different narrators, societies, and cultures, and "shaped over centuries of retelling" (Swann Jones 2002, 5). Familiar plots, characters, and images have become part of popular culture and inspired new generations of artists (Bernheimer 2009). They have survived over centuries without losing their popularity, adapting to new tastes, trends, and media. According to Marina Gabelica, we can trace fairy tales in digital media by following elements of fairy tales such as characters and motives that have been adapted and shaped in the spirit of the culture they were created in (2014, 48). Swann Jones believes that the popularity and long life of fairy tales is "a confirmation not only of aesthetic appeal, but also of their ability to speak to the human heart" (2002, 4–5).

To say that something is a fairy tale, you do not need fairies. On the other hand, magic needs to be implied and present (Warner 2014, 4). Fairy tales can therefore be defined as stories in which magical and wondrous events, characters, and objects are a part of normal, every-day life (Bernheimer 2009, 69). We do not know much about the characters since they are one-dimensional, but we know that, in the end, the good will usually win and the evil lose. Fairy tales were originally probably not meant for children, but around the end of seventeenth century, they gradually became part of children's literature(Zipes 1988,7) and started teaching child readers lessons, such as listen to your parents and do not stray from the path ("Little Red Riding Hood"), or be good, kind, and patient ("Cinderella"). To better understand this type of tales, let us explore their individual elements: form, language and style, motifs and themes, setting, and characters.

3.2. Form

For some scholars, the key element for defining the fairy tale is form. The most famous among them is Vladimir Propp with his influential study *The Morphology of the Folktale*, in which where he structurally analyses fairy tales. Based on his analysis of one hundred Russian folk tales, Propp(1968) identified thirty-one structural elements (or functions, as he calls them) that typically occurred in those stories. For him, any story that does not fit into his scheme of functions – which he defines as stable units of action (Propp 1968: 21)– is not a fairy tale.

A common element found in almost all fairy tales is the protagonist's departure from home in the beginning of the tale, which brings about a complication or a conflict. Maria Nikolajeva writes that the "home \rightarrow departure from home \rightarrow adventure \rightarrow homecoming" plot pattern is typical not just of fairy tales, but children's literature in general (2005, 101). The departure from home is the moment in which something exciting happens to the character, something that would not happen if he or she stayed at home. For example, Little Red Riding Hood would not bump into an evil wolf, Snow White would not meet the seven dwarfs, Cinderella would not meet the prince, and so on.

Homecoming brings the resolution of the conflict started by the departure from home. It is important to point out that the resolution is not necessarily the end of the story, but merely the moment in which the conflict is resolved (Nikolajeva 2005). Being away is an exciting period for the protagonist, a time for them to learn, grow, gain knowledge and maturity. In the words of Swann Jones: "The objective of the fairy tale quest is personal happiness, measured as a

rule by domestic satisfaction and tranquillity. [...][T]he focus of fairy tales is apparently on journeys of self-discovery, recognition and confrontation of internal anxieties and desires" (2002,16–17).

Fairy tales often have a happy ending, commonly "expressed by the *coda* 'lived happily ever after'" (Nikolajeva 2005, 103). For Swann Jones, "[t]he happy ending, which affirms the moral propriety of the universe, is a clear and definite characteristic of the fairy tale genre" (2002, 17).

3.3 Language and style

Fairy-tale language is characterized by the use of literary devices such as simile, metaphors, epithets, and especially repetitions of words or phrases, which give the story an almost song-like quality. It is without doubt that if you read a sentence like this: "A short time later the queen gave birth to a baby daughter whose skin was as white as snow, whose cheeks were as red as blood, and whose hair was as black as ebony wood" (Grimm& Grimm 1991, 3), you will instantly know it is about Snow White. Known and repetitive epithets such as evil witch, brave huntsman, wicked stepmother, or even just a name like Simpleton tell us all we need to know about the characters.

Phrases such as "Once upon a time" or "They lived happily ever after" are almost inevitable in most fairy tales. Marie Kester claims that the phrase "Once upon a time" has been part of the opening of many oral and written narratives since the 1600s (2012, 2). It expresses several things (ibid.):

First, there is that semblance of distance. We are not in the now, but rather in some place in the removed past. *Upon a time*. And second, there is the vagueness, the deliberate lack of specificity. We are not speaking of a defined time, a time you can point to, but rather of a *once*, an indeterminate moment. Not a land or a place you can locate, but *some* kingdom, *some* land, *some* place that cannot be tied to a map or a ready-made travel plan.

3.4 Motifs and themes

Nikolajeva defines literary motif as "a textual element – an event, character, or object – recurring in many works of literature" (2005, 81). For example, the quest is a common motif in children's literature and can be found in many folktales. True love is a commonmotif in fairy tales, where a hero must go on a journey to overcome all obstacles and in the end stay with his loved one. In some fairy tales, it is the motif of transportation that creates the

adventure for the protagonist, who uses a traveling cloak or seven-league boots to cross large distances.

Themes are very often mixed with motifs, but these two terms are different. A theme is a message conveyed in a piece of literature ("Theme" 2012); for example, in "Snow White" it may be pride or vanity. Swann Jones lists some of the most common fairy-tale themes, including feelings "toward parents, siblings and prospective mates", family relationships, and social values (2002, 9).

3.5Setting: where are we?

Most fairy tales start with "Once upon a time", which does not give us a clue when the plot takes place. Since we do not know the time or space, the imaginary world is completely detached from what we do know, which is only our world. However, while this phrase offers some distance from the world we live in and opens our imagination to this magically rich world, we can still find some connection with our known world (Nikolajeva 2005, 142). A forest is still a forest, but it is now an enchanted forest with ogres, talking animals, magical candy-houses and so on. Shoes are still shoes, but this time they are magical glass slippers or iron slippers that make you dance all the time.

In fairy tales, the inhabitants of magical worlds often live apart from human society, sometimes in the depths of forests or far and distant castles. While we do find some familiar settings, that magical world "does not operate as we know it: time and space shrink and stretch" (Warner 2014, 20).

3.6Characters

Referring back to *The Morphology of Folktales*, Propp described seven characters found in fairytales: the villain (an evil character that creates problems for the hero), dispatcher (any character that sends the hero on a quest), helper (as the name suggests, he helps the hero), donor (gives magical object or something similar to help the hero on his quest), false hero (tries to take the credit for what the real hero did), princess or sought-after-person and her father and hero (1968: 79–80).

The term *fairy tale* might make one think that the main or obligatory characters are fairies, but that is not always true. Fairies are not always present. On the contrary, the focus is usually onordinary people, who encounter magical events or creatures. Swann Jones claims that the

'ordinary' or 'common' protagonist is someone with whom the readers or listeners can better identify (2002, 14). The human protagonist interacts with magical characters such as talking animals, dwarfs, or witches.

3.7 Summary

Fairy tales are stories which typically include magic, magical creatures, and protagonists who go on a quest or an adventure. One crucial element that makes a fairy tale is the acceptance of magic as part of everyday life. The story is often circular, which means it begins with the protagonist leaving home and ends with his or her homecoming. The language includes lots of repetitions and phrases such as "Once upon a time", and characters are usually defined with one epithet (brave, evil, etc.). The story takes place in an unspecified time and place.

In this chapter, we have discussed some important fairy-tale elements. In the next chapter, we will use them to analyse *Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows*.

4. ANALYSIS

The aim of this chapter is to discuss fairy-tale elements found in *Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows*. The first part of the chapter discusses the form of the novel, how it begins and ends, and how that structure fits thetypical fairy-tale plot. The second part of the chapter explores fairy-tale themes and motifs such as the battle between good and evil, maternal love, family relationships, and magic – specifically, magical creatures and objects. The third part discusses Rowling's characters which, unlike the characters in fairy tales, are not entirely good or evil. It focuses especially on the characters of Lord Voldemort, Harry Potter, Draco Malfoy, and Severus Snape. The fourth and final part analyses "The Tale of Three Brothers", a fairy tale which plays an important role in the novel.

4.1 Structure: beginning and end

As we have established, one of the most common plot types in fairy tales is the circular one. The story both starts and ends with the protagonist being at home. In the case of *Harry Potter*, this situation is somewhat more complicated. In theory,the Dursley's home is supposed to be Harry's home. However, in the sixth novel, Dumbledore sums up just how far from the truth this is by saying that Harry has been "miserable", "unwelcome", and "badly treated" (Rowling 2009, 36) in the home of his aunt and uncle. However, if we detach all the emotions usually attached to home, the Dursleys' house is a home to Harry. In the seventh book, as in all the previous books, the story therefore begins with Harry being 'at home' - at the Dursleys'. He is finally saying goodbye to Privet Drive 4 and his relatives. In this moment, we could say he is indeed going on a quest, like so many fairy-tale heroes. However, that quest is postponed when the Harry, Ron and Hermionehave to stay with the Weasleys to prepare everything for Bill's wedding. After the wedding, and after the Ministry of Magicfallsin the hands of Lord Voldmort, the trio escapes and this is when their journey truly begins. Their first quest is to infiltrate the Ministry and steal a locket; the second quest happens after they discover that they need the Sword of Gryffindor to destroy all the Horcurxes; and the third quest is to get into Gringotts and steal the Horcrux. Finally, Harry has to battle Lord Voldemort.

The ending of the book is no less complicated. In the epilogue, we see Harry on platform 93/4, not exactly at home, nor a place where the book started. On the other hand, this platform is where Harry first felt like he belonged somewhere. It is in Hogwarts Express, a train that

leaves from this platform, that he met his best friends. The train took him to Hogwarts, a place where he first found a real home. Now Harry's children are leaving from this platform to go to Hogwarts. If we say that Harry's departure to Hogwarts is where the 'real story' starts, it is only natural to end the story at platform 934, with the next generation of children with whom "the next chapter in the Hogwarts saga begins" (Hunter 2014, 10).

4.2. Themes and motifs

Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows is filled with various classical themes found in well-known fairy tales. It is through the never-ending fight between good and evil that Harry (or the protagonist) discovers love and the ability to sacrifice himself for his friends and family. It is exactly family or the lack of it that shapes Harry (or the protagonist) into the person he (or she) is. One important and key theme is magic, seen especially in objects such as Horcruxes and the Deathly Hallows.

This section analyses fairy-tale themes in the novel, specifically the battle between good and evil, mothers and maternal love, family relationships. It also discusses two types of fairy-tale motifs: magical creatures (goblins, house elves, werewolves, serpents), and objects (Horcruxes, Pensieve, the Deathly Hallows).

4.2.1. Good vs. evil

The struggle between the hero – the epitome of good – and the villain – the epitome of evil – is often at the centre of fairy tales; for example, evil fairy godmother and Sleeping Beauty, the stepmother and Cinderella, or the queen and Snow White. The hero and villain want different outcomes, and that is exactly what creates conflict and competition. The hero does what is right and in the end is rewarded with wealth, marriage, and so on. The villain, on the other hand, is punished by being forced to dance to death in steel shoes, having their eyes poked out by birds, and so on.

In the *Harry Potter* series, we know from the beginning who represents the hero and who is the villain. Harry Potter chooses to do the best he can and try to be a good friend, family member and most of all a good person. He understands that Ron is nervous because of his family and tries to comfort him, he knows he has to break up with Ginny because the Death Eaters will torture her if they find out she is his weak spot. Harry can differentiate between what is easier and sometimes less good, and what is more difficult, but is ultimately good.

Lord Voldemort is the exact opposite. He does not care for anyone but himself, he does not care for another person's life, he just wants to be invincible and will stop at nothing to reach his goal. A good example of this is the Elder Wand and how Harry and Voldemort use it: Lord Voldemort wants to kill Harry with it, while Harry only uses it to fix his old wand. Voldemort is the leader of the Death Eaters, a merciless group of wizards who seek power and enjoy torturing other innocent wizards or Muggles. While Harry is not really their leader, but he is the "face" of the resistance group called the Order of Phoenix, which tries to prevent Voldemort and his followers from taking over. While the novel focuses on Harry, Ron and Hermione, and how they fight Voldemort, in the background we notice that much bigger groups are doing exactly the same – fighting each other, trying to win and create peace (in the case of the Order of Phoenix) or wreak havoc (in the case of the Death Eaters).

As in fairy tales, the comfort of knowing that evil will be defeated in the end gives readers reassurance that everything will be well. In the case of *Harry Potter*, Harry repeatedly wins each time evil forces try to take over, letting readers knows that everything *will* be good in the end, if you only have faith in people you love and try to choose good.

4.2.2. Mothers and maternal love

When asked in an interview about maternal love, Rowling talked about a research that shows how children's brains develop differently with and without the presence of their mothers. She used these findings in her work: Voldemort never knew or felt mother's love, while Harry did, whichis a fundamental difference between them. Rowling also said that Harry's mother Lily "was representative of safety in a way a father could not be [...] Lily is something different, she stood by the cot and tried to stop her baby dying" ("Mother's Love – J. K. Rowling"2012).

Many female characters in the series present maternal figures in Harry's life. The first one he meets is his aunt Petunia. She presents a complex kind of mother, because she tries to be a good mother and give her son Dudley everything she feels she lacked growing up Muggle with a witch sister. But she does not give him love, it is more a kind of material or cupboard love. She shows no affection or understanding for Harry and even lies to him about his parents, not to protect him, but because she is still envious of her sister and hopes she can get magic out of him. Grimes points out that Petunia is "reminiscent of the evil stepmother in folk and fairy tales. [...] Perhaps she most resembles the stepmother in Cinderella, as she overwhelmingly favours her biological child over her surrogate" (2002, 95). One might think

that in the last book in the series she would show some kind of remorse or warm feeling for Harry – they are saying their farewells after all – but she says nothing. She just looks at him and leaves. She never cares to check up on him to see if the boy she once took care of is still alive.

A completely different kind of mother found in Rowling's books is Molly Weasley, whom Grimes compares to the character of Mother Hole from German folk tales (2002, 96). Mrs Weasley has seven biological children for whom she feels nothing but love. She is everything a mother should be and even shows the same amount of love for Harry and Hermione. Every Christmas she knits them sweaters and bakes them cakes. She always makes sure that Harry is happy, fed, and that he gets a present for his birthday as well. She does her best to keep everyone she loves safe, even killing Bellatrix Lestrange to protect her daughter Ginny.

An unexpected act of maternal love happens when Narcissa Malfoy, a loyal Death Eater, decides to betray Lord Voldemort and lie to his face. She knows that Voldemort does not put up with disobedience of any kind. So, when she lies that Harry is dead, she puts her own life in danger. This does not matter to her since all she wantsis to protect her son and find out where he is. The fear she must have felt when she decided to search for Draco must be something impossible to imagine, but her love for her son is even greater than that.

4.2.3. Family relationships

Many famous fairy tales start with the death of the protagonist's parent, usually the mother. That leads to the creation of a new family which includes the protagonist, father, stepmother, and, in some cases, a sibling. In the Brothers Grimm's "Hansel and Gretel", the stepmother advises the father to take his children into the woods, start a fire, give each of the children a piece of bread, and leave them in the woods. In this way, the parents will have more money since they will be "rid of [the children]" ("Hansel and Gretel"). In "Little Snow White" the mother dies and the father marries a vain, self-obsessed woman. The new queen tries to kill Snow White many times, so that she can be the prettiest woman in the land. However, unlike Hansel and Gretel, Snow White finds a kind of foster family in the seven dwarfs, who take her in and warn her not open the door to strangers.

When we first meet Harry Potter in *The Philosopher's Stone*, we see a neglected child. He lives under the stairs and has to wear his cousin Dudley's old clothes that do not fit. Harry is also psychologically abused by the Dursleys, who, according to Roni Natov, provide "a model of how not to treat children" (2004, 127). On one occasion, when the entire family goes to the

zoo, Harry notices a caged snake – a boa. Many of us would probably move further from the terrarium the snake is in, but not Harry. He sympathizes with the animal, "whose plight he perceives as 'worse that having a cupboard as a bedroom" (Pharr 2004, 57). Although the Dursleys make Harry more empathetic to other people and their troubles, they do not accept the fact that he is a wizard and do not protect him, even though they know who Voldemort is and what he did to Petunia's sister Lily.

However, not all adopted families are hateful toward Harry. Similar to Snow White, Harry finds comfort and protection in a place where he did not expect to find it — with his best friend's family, the Weasleys. They never treat Harry as a stranger, he is more than welcome in their home. They are also the ones who show Harry how to get to Platform 9¾ and board the train to Hogwarts for the first time. It is as though with the possibility of being away from the Dursleys he is finally given a new family and a life he can enjoy, which begins his "development from neglected, unloved orphan, who knows nothing about magic, to world famous wizard" (Griesinger 2002, 464).

Apart from the previously mentioned Molly Weasley, the other Weasleys are also a family to Harry. They accept him as one of them and Ginny falls in love with him. After he leaves the Dursleys, his new (temporary) home is with Weasleys where he can regain his strength and will to fight Lord Voldemort, something he can only do in a loving and safe environment. Arthur Weasley is like an uncle to Harry, always caring for the boy, but not suffocating him, because he knows that in the end Harry will do what he wants to do and nothing can stand in his way. Mr Weasley becomes someone to whom Harry can come for advice because there is an understanding and respect between them.

Another family that is important to mention is the Malfoys. If we say that the Dursleys represent the worst kind of family and on the opposite end we place the Weasleys, the Malfoys are somewhere in between (although they lean more towards the Dursleys). Mr and Mrs Malfoy are both Death Eaters and equally responsible for Draco becoming a Death Eater as well. What motivates them is their social status (powerful, rich, pure-blooded wizards) and above all fear of Lord Voldemort. They are the kind of parents who will sabotage just about anyone if it means that their child will be protected and happy.

It is hard to say that the Malfoys are all evil. Perhaps it would be more accurate to say that they are three scared individuals who pick the wrong people to associate with and do not know what to do to get out. As Marthe Dahlin writes, they "represent a sort of evil grown out

of selfishness and with personal gain as their driving force" (2014, 32), which, in my opinion, describes them perfectly.

4.2.4. Magical creatures

As mentioned before, magic is what makes a fairy tale, and more often than not, it appears in the form of magical creatures. They often offer guidance to the protagonists and help them on their quests. In the *Harry Potter* series, Rowling uses well-known magical beings from folklore such as goblins, house elves, werewolves, and basilisks, which will be discussed in this section. She uses information that is well-known about those creatures and adapts it to her story.

In British and German folklore, goblins are "a mischievous, and usually very unpleasant, vengeful, and greedy creature whose primary purpose is to cause trouble to humankind" (Geller 2016). Rowling's goblins are similar: for example, they believe that when they sell jewellery to a witch or wizard, they should get it back after that person dies. The goblin Griphook tricks Harry, Ron, and Hermione when they ask to be taken into Gringotts; he takes Godrick Gryffindor's sword, but does not help the trio get out, which nearly gets them killed.

Another important magical being in the series is the house elf. These creatures live in wizarding households, helping and cleaning after their masters. They are very loyal and feel protective of their masters; for example, Dobby (the Free Elf) is protective of Harry because Harry saved him from slavery and Kreacher is very protective of his first master Regulus Black, even though Regulus never cared whether Kreacher lived or died.

While goblins and house elves are less dangerous and less dark creatures, werewolves are the opposite. In folklore, a werewolf is a human with the ability to shapeshift into a wolf, usually on the night of a full moon ("Werewolf Legends" 2018). In the *Harry Potter* series, a werewolf is a creature that exists only for a brief period around the full moon. At any other time, it is a normal human. Werewolves are created when another werewolf bites a person. While many people stay away from werewolves, Harry notes in his book about fantastic beasts that they "aren't all bad" (Rowling 2016, 41). However, it is important to differentiate between two werewolves in the series. Remus Lupin is a loving, kind, and understanding werewolf who hates the state he is in. In contrast, Fenrir Greyback is the type from horror stories, the kind that does not want to transform to his human form but lives as a human who feels bloodlust all the time. As with everything, Rowling uses these characters to show that there are two types of people/creatures among all of us: the good and the bad.

Serpents have, as all magical beings used in the series, been part of British folklore, and many other folklores from around the world. According to Lauren Berman: "The snake plays a rich and complex role in ancient Egyptian belief, and is frequently depicted as an elemental symbol of chaos and evil" (2008, 46). In the *Harry Potter* series, they are present in almost every book. In *The Deathly Hallows* the only important snake is Voldemort's Horcrux-pet Nagini. She is capable of embodying humans, she kills Severus Snape, and in the end is killed by Neville Longbottom.

4.2.5. Magical objects

When a reader reads a story in which there are magical things such as magical objects with supernatural powers it is a sign to them that they are now entering a new world filled with imaginative scenarios. In the *Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows*, this is no exception. Readers understand that this is something contrary to the world they live, and as with magical creatures, J. K. Rowling understands the appeal it has on readers as well as importance when creating a fairy tale so she creates her own objects such as Horcruxes, Pensieve or Deathly Hallows – which will be in detail explained as mentioned.

Horcruxes play an important role in the final *Harry Potter* novel, where death is an important theme. Many of the characters die, including Harry (who comes back to life). Dumbledore tells Harry on various occasions that Voldemort fears death more than anything; in fact, one of the reasons he turned to dark magic is to find a way to become immortal.

A known motif in fairy tales is the conservation of the heart or soul in objects, places or even beings. Much like Koschei the Deathless or the giant whose heart is not his body, Voldemort tries to prevent himself from dying by placing parts of his soul in various objects —Salazar Slytherin's locket, Rowena Ravenclaw's diadem, Helga Hufflepuff's cup,his grandfather's ring and a diary — as well as beings, such as his snake, Nagini and one, unplanned Horcrux, Harry Potter. Rowling does not really give a lot of information about Horcruxes, but the main idea is that in order to create one, you need to kill another person, which breaks your soul into pieces. By creating the Horcruxes Voldemort shows what he really thinks of life, how frivolous he sees it and that he does not feel remorse Lord Voldemort.

What makes Harry realize he is the Horcrux are Snape's memories he sees in the Pensieve. The Pensieve is a magical instrument which allows Professor Dumbledore (since it is in his office), and anybody else he wishes to show them to, to see (his or someone else's) memories. To put memories in the Pensieve, a wizard must retract them from their brain and put them in

the Pensieve, which then makes them visible. The person watching the memories is not visible to the original memory, but every detail the mind observed consciously or unconsciously is on display to the observer.

Apart from the Horcruxes, another set of items which motivate Harry, Ron and Hermione to go on a quest are the Deathly Hallows. The three magical objects – the Elder Wand, the Resurrection Stone and the Invisibility Cloak –make their owner master of Death, since Death itself gave it to three brothers. The Cloak of Invisibility is not a new idea, since it appears in many folktales such as the Grimms' "Twelve Dancing Princesses". The functions of the two cloaks are different, but the motif is familiar. Harry's Invisibility Cloak works in a way that it protects him from other people seeing him, as well as Death. The Elder Wand is the type of wand that can give you everything you need – protection, power, magic, invincibility. In a way, it is like the stick from the story "Jump into My Sack" where the wand does whatever the wizard needs – except the Elder Wand does more. The final gift is the Resurrection Stone which brings back the dead into the world of living, but the problem with this gift is that people who are brought back do not belong to this world.

4.3. Characters: good or evil?

Already in the first book in the series, *Harry Potter and the Philosopher's Stone*, J.K. Rowling disclosed that she would not be relying on simple black-and-white characterization typical of fairy tales by saying that people are not divided into good or bad, it is the choices they make that define them. The distinction between good and bad in the series is therefore, more often than not, not completely clear. Characters' development across the different novels is more complicated than the one in fairy tales, where characters typically stay the same. While fairy-tale characters are clearly good or evil, Rowling's characters are often "grey". Some characters are in opposition to each other—for example, Lord Voldemort and Harry Potter — but there are also those like Professor Severus Snape, who cannot simply be placed on the side of good or evil, but more in the middle. Even Harry's nemesis Draco Malfoy cannot be described as simply good or bad, but more as "complex". In order to better understand this complexity, let us explore each of the four characters mentioned in this paragraph (Lord Voldemort, Harry Potter, Severus Snape, and Draco Malfoy) separately.

4.3.1 Harry Potter

Since Harry Potter's journey starts before the final novel, to better understand his character as well as his development as the "ultimate good" to Voldemort's "ultimate evil", we need to take a look at the previous novels.

M. Katherine Grimes points out that readers of Rowling's books recognize them "as part of the fairy tale world and Harry as a fairy or folk hero" (2002, 91). Like many fairy-tale characters (e.g. Cinderella or Sleeping Beauty), Harry Potter is born in a loving and caring family. However, that changes when at the age of one his parents are killed, and he becomes an orphan. This connects him to protagonists of fairy tales who, as Nikolajeva points out, are often orphans or are orphaned at the beginning of the story. After his parents die, Harry is goes to live with his aunt and uncle – the Dursleys – where he has to follow their rules and suffer abuse from their son Dudley. Mary Phaar believes that the Dursleys have a "complicated significance" for Harry's development as a hero: "By abusing Harry, they predispose him to identify with the abused" (2002, 57). Perhaps this is what instantly makes readers care for Harry and identify with him as a hero. Harry's mother dies to protect Harry, and it is this love and sacrifice that protect him for as long as he is underage and living under his relatives' roof. The second he moves out the magic of that sacrifice stops. This leads us to the last novel in which Harry leaves the known and the protection he has had until then.

As with any fairy-tale hero, Harry has helpers on his journey. Professor Dumbledore is his mentor and all-knowing guide. However, after teaching Harry everything he knows, "the mentor has to die to enable his student to find his own way by relying on his own strength" (Boll 2011, 6). With guidance from Dumbledore, who "operates behind the scenes to guide and help Harry" (Zipes 2001, 191) even beyond the grave, Harry knows his path and what he must do. Even more crucial is the help of his best friends, Ron and Hermione, who make everything easier. If it were not for his two friends who follow Harry on his quest to find the Hollows and Horcruxes, his journey would look much more different and much more detached from others in the wizarding community.

On his own journey "of self-discovery, recognition and confrontation of internal anxieties and desires" (Swann Jones 2002,17), Harry tries to be good and kind, because this is who his parents were and he does not want to disappoint them. When Dobby dies, Harry chooses to dig a grave for his friend instead of creating it by magic because he wants to pay the elf respect. He never underestimates any other creature that is 'below' him, because he has a

strong moral compass. On some occasions, however, he slips and feels rage or is unkind to others. There are even times when he wants to quit his quest and stay in hiding for the rest of his life, but he knows he has to go on for others. Despite sometimes being conflicted about choosing good or bad, in the end, when confronted with Voldemort, Harry casts a spell that would not kill his enemy. Before that moment, he feels a tremendous burden, goes into the Forest and lets himself be killed to protect others. This deed proves "to be stronger than the darkest magic and more powerful than death" (Stojilkov 2015, 146).

In traditional fairy tales, the protagonist does not change as a character by the end of the story; however, he (or she) does get something he (or she) lacks in the beginning, such as wealth or a spouse. If we focus only on *The Deathly Hollows*, Harry does not change very much either. He is still a humble boy, he does not want eternal glory or the invincible wand; all he wantsis peace and the knowledge that everything will be good in the end. For the most part, he fits into Nikolajeva's description of the "common hero in folktale", which defines him as "an underprivileged child [...] [who] at the end, hero finds his fortune" and "triumphs over those who seemed cleverer and stronger in the beginning" (2005, 148). Bruno Bettelheim believes that this triumph "symbolizes a sate of true independence, in which the hero feels [...] secure, satisfied, and happy" (1975, 217), much like Harry does.

However, the *Harry Potter* series is not a fairy tale. Characters are more complicated in novels and usually develop in the course of the story. In contrast to Voldemort, Harry *is* good and pure, but it takes time for him to ultimately choose the 'good side' over the 'bad side'. As stated above, he does think about an easier way out (e.g. hiding in the forest or somewhere else),not something a fairy-tale hero would do because fairy tales do not depict this kind of dilemma since good/evil characters do not change sides.

4.3.2. Lord Voldemort

Voldemort is raised in an orphanage, left there all alone because his mother dies. His father is a Muggle, which is one of the reasons why Voldemort is so obsessed with being pure-blooded. Dumbledore tells Harry that Voldemort's mother gave a love potion to his father and made him fall in love with her. However, this was not real love and nothing pure can ever come out of deception. Voldemort is proud to be a descendant of a famous wizard and ashamed of his mother, who dies poor. Determined not to die like his mother, he begins studying the Horcruxes and exploring how to become immortal at a young age. He soon gets a group of followers who call themselves the Death Eaters.

Courtney B. Strimel states that Voldemort is the only character in the *Harry Potter* books who is unquestionably evil: "[A]lthough there is a tone of death, hate, lack of respect, and sheer evil [in the series], Voldemort is the single character that embodies those qualities. In his desire to reign over the magical world, he gains a complete disregard for life" (2004, 43). The desire to be immortal and take over the Wizarding world makes him numb to any kind of feelings, especially those that have anything to do with love. His obsession to become immortal means he has to kill (to create Horcruxes), since taking another person's life is the best way to destroy one's soul. Dumbledore tells Harry numerous times that Voldemort is incapable of love, which will be his downfall. Similarly, Rita Singer points out that "[t]he nature of the dark forces, that is their inability to feel compassion, inevitably contributes to Voldemort's downfall" (2011, 34). Voldemort never tries to understand his mother, let alone anyone else. Because of this, he can never understand what made Harry's mother sacrifice herself and stand in the way between him and her son.

Unlike Voldemort, Harry is willing to make the ultimate sacrifice and die for others. He does not try to be great, all he wants is for him and others to be free. However, as mentioned before, Harry often struggles between good and evil, and according to Dahlin, it is this struggle "within Harry (as well as between Harry and Voldemort) that is so inherently fascinating to readers – because it reflects an ongoing struggle that each of us experience within ourselves" (2014,19). What makes the two of them different is the path they choose to take: Harry tries to do good, and even if he does not always succeed, his intentions are good; Voldemort never cares if what he does wrong, he knows his goal and does what he must to reach it.

4.3.3 Draco Malfov

Another character who seems to be the opposite of Harry Potter is the school bully Draco Malfoy. He comes from a pure-blooded aristocratic and influential family of Death Eaters. His father loathes anyone who is not pure-blooded or shows any kind of affection toward Muggles, especially Arthur Weasly, who is enthusiastic about Muggles. Draco often sees his father make snarky comments about the entire Weasley family and bribe his way to the top, and feels no shame nor does he disapprove of his father's actions. However, throughout the books, Draco begins to feel what Tom Felton, the actor who plays him in the *Harry Potter* movies, calls an "inner conflict": "[H]e's terrified of Voldemort, there seems to be some sort of inner compulsion to maybe, not help, but certainly not hinder" (HeyUGuys 2011).

When the snatchers capture Harry, Ron, and Hermione in *The Deathly Hallows* and take them to the Malfoy manor, we see Draco pale and skinny, just like his father who recently got out of prison. His mother Narcissa does not appear to be any healthier or happier than the two men. They are very cautious about how to handle having someone who might be Harry Potter in their house: they know that if it is Harry, Lord Voldemort will come and who knows what might happen to them; on the other hand, if they call Voldemort, and it turns out the prisoner is not Harry, they will not make it out alive. In that scene, the reader might even see something other than fear in Draco's eyes when he tries to identify Harry: "Harry saw Draco's face up close now, right beside his father's. They were extraordinarily alike, except that while his father looked beside himself with excitement, Draco's expression was full of reluctance, even fear" (Rowling 2012, 371). Draco might feel pity for Harry, but he does nothing except go back to his chair without identifying Harry. This shows that in Rowling's books "even people who have behaved in villainous way in the past can make the right decision when the time comes" (McEvoy 2011, 213). He may not actively try to be good and kind, but, as Lucy Andrew points out, he does defy "the Dark Lord and, by extension, his father through absence from Voldemort's army. [...] Draco Malfoy is not a hero, but, perhaps, in the end, he should not have to be" (2012, 64-66).

4.3.4. Severus Snape: Shapeshifter

When asked in an interview whether she thought Snape was a hero, J.K. Rowling replied ("Web chat" 2007):

"Yes, I do; though a very flawed hero. An anti-hero,perhaps. He is not a particularly likeable man in many ways. Heremains rather cruel, a bully, riddled with bitterness and insecurity—and yet he loved, and showed loyalty to that love and, ultimately, laiddown his life because of it. That's pretty heroic!"

Despite the complexities in their characters, we can still clearly describe Harry Potter as 'good' and Lord Voldemort as 'evil'. In contrast, the case of Professor Snape is a bit more difficult since he appears to be a shapeshifter, defined by Brad Johnson as "a character perceived by the Hero to have a specific motivation or allegiance that is either discovered to be false, or legitimately changes, as the story plays out" (2019). Through the series, we believe that Snape is evil: he is rude to Harry, constantly abusing him and laughing at him. What makes Snape even worse is the fact that he is Lord Voldemort's follower – a Death Eater. However, in the last book, everything the readers thought they knew about Snape can be thrown into the cauldron. An interesting paradox happens in the last book, when Rowling

turns the tables and makes readers question whether Dumbledore really is good, since, as Peter Appelbaum writes, he is "revealed as a victim of greed in his final failed grasp at the power of the Deathly Hallows" (2008, 86). Readers are also made to wonder about Snape when they find out he has been acting "consistently on more noble motivations, sacrificing his life for the good of all humankind" (ibid.). In this way, Appelbaum believes, Snape presents a model which Harry later follows with his own sacrifice, making Snape "the only teacher Harry has truly had the honor to have studied with, [...] the only teacher who has sacrificed his life specifically to make it possible for Harry to make the same choice" (ibid., 90).

Before Snape dies, he gives Harry his memories which Harry sees in thePensive. This allows both readers and Harry to understand Snape's character a bit more. At first, we see Snape and Lily, Harry's mother, talking about Hogwarts. At the magical school, Lily ends up in Gryffindor and Snape in Slytherin, and we see Snape bullied byHarry's father James Potter. Many years later, after it becomes clear what Voldemort wants to do with Harry Potter and his parents, Snape goes to Dumbledore to seek protection for Lily. Dumbledore agrees to this only if Snape becomes loyal to him, and not to his Dark Lord. Snape agrees and plays the double agent. We see how Dumbledore asks Snape to kill him and how Snape later protects Harry on his hunt to find the Horcruxes, and then we are left with so many questions.

To conclude 'the great Snape debate', we could say that he does turn out to be a good man, as Rowling calls him, "the bravest man". On the other hand, he never makes Harry's life any easier and dislikes him because of the way James Potter treated him. However, as Appelbaum says, he is indeed a great professor who teaches Harry how to put his feelings aside in order to protect another human. He also teaches Harry about loyalty, and how not to be hot-headed but remain calm in difficult situations.

4.4 Story within a story: "The Tale of Three Brothers"

This section combines everything we have said about fairy tales so far and applies it in the analysis of "The Tale of Three Brothers", a fairy tale from the collection of short stories *The Tales of Beedle the Bard*, which Dumbledore leaves Hermione in his will.

As mentioned in the introduction to this thesis, many scholars have noticed Rowling's passion and understanding of folklore, folktales and fairy tales. In an interview about the *Harry Potter* series, the author said: "I've used things from folklore and I've used bits of what people used to believe worked magically just to add a certain flavor, but I've always twisted them to suit my own ends. I mean, I've taken liberties with folklore, um, to suit my plot" (A&E

2002).Considering this love and knowledge of folklore, it is perhaps no surprise that she write her own collection of fairy tales— *The Tales of Beedle the Bard*— and added one of them— "The Tale of Three Brothers"— to the plot of *Harry Potter*. Adding this tale to The Deathly Hallows helps Rowling create "a folkloresque narrative which combines magic and wizarding duels unique to the secondary world within a tale drawn from European tradition" (Castleman2017, 67). The characters in the novel see the tale as "an ancient wizarding myth based upon the legendary Peverell family and their three sons who are thought to have been the original owners of the Deathly Hallows" (Simonetta & Luis, 2018). The content of the tale is not novel, but inspired by many European folktales. In the novel, it is vital for defeating Voldemort because it helps Harry understand what he must do in order to save everybody from the Dark Lord. Furthermore, with this story and everything he learns from Snape's memories, Harry also realizes that he is the owner of all three gifts and that he can use the Resurrection stone to say goodbye to the people who died trying to protect him.

The tale follows three brothers who encounter Death. Since they are able to elude a trap constructed by Death, it offers them gifts to reward their wit and knowledge. The first brother asks for a wand that will defeat any wizard and receives the invincible Elder wand. The second brother is given the Resurrection stone, which can bring back the dead, while the third brother, the humblest of the three, is given the Invisibility cloak, which can protect him from Death itself. The first brother defeats another wizard in a duel; however, he is so proud of his accomplishment that he brags about it in a nearby village, so another wizard kills him and takes his wand. The second brother uses the Resurrection stone to bring the girl he loves back from the dead. After he realizes that she no longer belongs in this world he kills himself. After taking the two men, Death searches for the third brother, who is hidden under the Invisibility cloak. It is not until he grows old and passes the cloak down to his son that he greets Death as an old friend.

The tale beings with a typical fairy-tale opening: "There were once three brothers" (Rowling 2008, 103). We do not know where the story takes place, only that the brothers are "traveling along a lonely, winding road at twilight" (ibid.). The information about the time of day sets the tone of the entire story, since not so cheerful events usually happen later in the day or more often during the night. Like typical fairy-tale characters, the characters in Rowling's story are flat: "silhouettes, mentioned simply because they are there" (Bernheimer 2009, 66). They are described only briefly: the first brother is "a combative man", the second "an arrogant man", and the third is the "humblest and also the wisest of the brothers" (Rowling 2008, 105). A

more detailed characterization is not necessary since these traits successfully carry the message. Ultimately, Death takes all three brothers, but it is important to differentiate howeach brother dies. Both the "combative" and the "arrogant" brother ends up punished for their personalities, while the "humblest" and "wisest" brother lives his life till the day he feels he is ready to die. A common fairy-tale motif is the number three, which is present in the story. There are three brothers and each of them has one wish, which brings each of them one gift. As previously stated, arrogance and combativeness are punished, while humbleness and kindness are awarded.

In "The Tale of Three Brothers", Rowling summarized everything she knows about fairy tales and engages with them critically, by "making choices regarding form and function based on her own understanding of how the genre works" (Holl-Jensen and Tolbert, 2016 2). Her love of folklore is visible throughout the entire *Harry Potter* series and in this tale in particular.

5. CONCLUSION

This thesis has defined fairy tales as stories in which the appearance of magical creatures and magical objects does not surprise characters, but is accepted as part of everyday life. Another important element of the genre is the quest the protagonist embarks on, for example, to win the hand of a princess or defeat the villain. The simple language contains repetitions of certain words or events, and common phrases such as "Once upon a time" or "Happily ever after". Characters are simple and often described with one epithet – brave, old, evil, etc.

Fairy tales have found their way into the magical world of *Harry Potter*, created by J.K. Rowling. This thesis has explored fairy-tale elements in the final novel in the series, *Harry* Potter and the Deathly Hallows, specifically, form, characters, themes and motifs. When it comes to themes and motifs, the battle between good and evil is mostly presented through the conflict between Harry Potter and Lord Voldemort, also known as the Dark Lord (which is very indicative). We have seen how the absence of a mother and different family relationships - some positive (the Weasleys), some negative (the Dursleys)—can shape a person. A fairy tale is not a fairy tale without magic, and in the world of Harry Potter there is plenty of it. Especially important for our analyses are magical creatures and magical objects. Magical creatures in Rowling's book borrowed (house elves, goblins, werewolves and serpents) show that good and evil individuals are not only found among people. Important magical objects included in the analyses are Horcruxes, in which a person can hide pieces of their soul, the Pensive, a magical portal in which characters can pour their memories, and the Deathly Hallows, three very powerful items that enable their owner to conquer Death. Unlike fairytale characters, the characters in Rowling's novel are not simply good or evil. The thesis examines this idea by looking at the characters of Harry Potter, who represents good, Lord Voldemort, who represents evil, and two characters who are somewhere in-between: Draco Malfoy and Severus Snape. Because of his ignorance and the influence of his parents, Malfoy is not as evil as Voldemort, but he is not good like Harry. Snape is also not entirely good, since he bullies Harry throughout his education, but on the other hand he does save his life more than once. The thesis has also explored"The Tale of Three Brothers" and how it fits both into the world of Harry Potter and the fairy-tale model.

Fairy tale elements appear in *Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows* in various forms and influence the story both structurally and thematically. Rowling borrows many plot elements, themes and characters from folklore and fairy tales, and adapts them to the complex story of

her novel. These familiar elements enrich the plot and making it more entertaining for readers, who are eager to see how everything will play out. While we cannot say that *Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows* is itself a fairy tale, what we can say is contains many elements of fairy tales which help createthe fascinating magical world of Harry Potter.

REFERENCES

- 1. "500 million *Harry Potter* books have now been sold worldwide" (2018). *Pottermore*. https://www.wizardingworld.com/news/500-million-harry-potter-books-have-now-been-sold-worldwide
- A&E. 2002. Biography: Harry Potter and Me. November 13. Transcript of video recording retrieved from: http://www.accio-quote.org/articles/2001/1201-bbc-hpandme.htm.
- 3. Alton, A. H. (2008). Playing the genre game: Generic fusions of the Harry Potter series. In *Critical Perspectives on Harry Potter* (199-225). Edited by Elizabeth E-Heilman. Routledge.
- 4. Andrew, L. (2012). The Good, The Bad and the Malfoys: The Role of Free Will in the Creation of the Criminal Child in the Harry Potter series. *Magic is Might 2012*. (59-66) Edited by Luigina Ciolfi and Grainne O'Brien.
- 5. Appelbaum, P. (2008). The great Snape debate. In *Critical Perspectives on Harry Potter* (pp. 95-112). Routledge.
- 6. Architects, L. T. L., Bernheimer, K., & Bernheimer, A. (2018). Fairy Tale Architecture: The Death of Koschei the Deathless. *Places Journal*.
- 7. Berman, L. (2008). Dragons and serpents in JK Rowling's Harry Potter Series: Are they evil? *Mythlore: A Journal of JRR Tolkien, CS Lewis, Charles Williams, and Mythopoeic Literature*, 27(1), (45-65).
- 8. Bernheimer, K. (2009). Fairy tale is form, form is fairy tale. *The writer's notebook: Craft essays from tin house*. New York: Tin House, (61-73).
- 9. Bettelheim, B. (1975). The uses of enchantment: *The Meaning and Importance of Fairy Tales*. Thames & Hudson (*New York*, 1977)
- 10. Boll, J. (2011). Harry Potter's Archetypal Journey. *Harry Potter in the Harry Potter Series*.(1-23)Routledge.
- 11. Castleman, S. G. (2017). Inexhaustible magic: Folklore as world building in Harry Potter. Western Kentucky University, Specialist project paper
- 12. Cetin, M. U. T. (2011). *After "Harry Potter," Hogwarts "will always be there to welcome you home."* College.Usatoday.Com. Retrieved September 14, 2021. https://eu.usatoday.com/story/college/2011/07/15/after-harry-potter-hogwarts-will-always-be-there-to-welcome-you-home/37386009/

- 13. Dahlin, M. (2014). "All Was Well": The Problematic Representations of Evil in the Harry Potter Series (Master's thesis, Universitetet i Oslo).
- 14. Ford, M. (Ed.). (1996). Happily ever after: Erotic fairy tales for men. Masquerade.
- 15. Gabelica, M. (2014). Digitalna kraljevna ostavština Walta Disneya. *Detinjstvo časopis o književnosti za decu, (40)* (48-55).
- 16. Geller. (2016). *Goblin*. Mythology.Net. Retrieved: September 6, 2021https://mythology.net/mythical-creatures/goblin/
- 17. Griesinger, E. (2002). Harry Potter and the "deeper magic": Narrating hope in children's literature. *Christianity & Literature*, 51(3), (455-480).
- 18. Grimes, M. K. (2002). Harry Potter: Fairy tale prince, real boy, and archetypal hero. *The ivory tower and Harry Potter: Perspectives on a literary phenomenon*, (89-122).
- 19. Grimm, J and Grimm, W. Hansel and Gretel. (n.d.). Grimm 015: Hansel and Gretel. Retrieved September 6, 2021, from https://sites.pitt.edu/%7Edash/grimm015.html
- 20. Grimm, J. and Grimm, W. *Twelve Dancing Princesses*. (n.d.). Retrieved August 20, 2021, from https://etc.usf.edu/lit2go/175/grimms-fairy-tales/3061/the-twelve-dancing-princesses/
- 21. Grimm, J., & Grimm, W. (1991). Snow White. Andrews McMeel Publishing.
- 22. Haase, D. (Ed.). (2007). *The Greenwood Encyclopedia of Folktales and Fairy Tales [3 Volumes]*. Greenwood Publishing Group.
- 23. Harry Potter and Me. 2001. BBC Christmas Special: British version. 57 mins.
- 24. *Harvard Quidditch Club* "*We so fly!*" (n.d.). Harvard Quidditch Club. Retrieved February 25, 2021, from https://harvardquidditchclub.com/
- 25. Hederman, M. P. (2007). Harry Potter and the Da Vinci Code: Thunder of a Battle Fought in Some Other Star'.
- 26. HeyUGuys. (2011). Tom Felton Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows: Part 2 Exclusive Interview. YouTube. Retrieved: 2021, August 20. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=7cEQtxTF2ME
- 27. Holl-Jensen, C., & Tolbert, J. A. (2016). New-Minted from the Brothers Grimm. *The Folkloresque: Reframing Folklore in a Popular Culture World In the Tales of Beedle the Bard*. Edited by M. D. Foster & J. A. Tolbert. (163-172).

- 28. Hunter, J. (2012). Folktale Structure as the Key to the Success of the Harry Potter Series. A Brand of Fictional Magic: Reading Harry Potter as Literature. University of St. Andrews, Scotland, 17.
- 29. Johnson, B. (2019). SPECS & THE CITY: The Shapeshifter Archetype and 'Harry Potter'. Script Magazine. Retrieved: 2021 July 10. https://scriptmag.com/features/specs-city-shapeshifter-archetype-harry-potter
- 30. Jump into My Sack (n.d.). Retrieved August 20, 2021, from http://www.ruanvifeng.com/calvino/2006/10/jump_into_my_sack_en.html
- 31. Kester, M. (2021). *The Powerful History Behind "Once Upon a Time"* | *History of Yesterday*. Medium. Retrieved: 2021, September 5. https://historyofyesterday.com/the-history-behind-once-upon-a-time-1d2eba810dcc
- 32. McCaffrey, M. (2003). "'Muggle' Redux in the Oxford English Dictionary". School Library Journal. Archived from the original on 22 May 2007. Retrieved 2 May 2021.
 https://web.archive.org/web/20070522122638/http://www.schoollibraryjournal.com/article/CA294413.html
- 33. McEvoy, K. (2011). Heroism at the Margins. *Heroism in the Harry Potter Series*. Edited by. Berndt, Katrinand Lena Steveker. Surrey: Ashgate, (207-223). Print.
- 34. *Mother's Love J.K. Rowling*. (2012, February 12). YouTube. Retrieved: 2021, September 6. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=K9ya2S17D0c
- 35. Natov, R. (2004). Harry Potter and the Extraordinariness of the Ordinary. *The Ivory tower and Harry Potter: Perspectives on a literary phenomenon*. Edited by Lana A. Whited (125-139).
- 36. Nikolajeva, M. (2005). *Aesthetic approaches to children's literature: An introduction*. Scarecrow Press.
- 37. Nikolajeva, M. (2008). Harry Potter and the secrets of children's literature. In *Critical Perspectives on Harry Potter* (pp. 237-254). Routledge.
- 38. Pharr, M. (2002). In Medias Res: Harry Potter as Hero-in-Progress. *The ivory tower and Harry Potter: Perspectives on a literary phenomenon*, (53-66).
- 39. Propp, V. I. (1968). *Morphology of the Folktale*. University of Texas Press.
- 40. Rowling, J. K. (2008). The tales of Beedle the Bard. Children's High Level Group.
- 41. Rowling, J. K. (2009) *Harry Potter and Half-blood Prince*. Bloomsbury Publishing

- 42. Rowling, J. K. (2012). *Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows*. Bloomsbury Publishing.
- 43. Rowling, J. K. (2015). *Harry Potter and the Philosopher's Stone*. Bloomsbury Publishing.
- 44. Rowling, J. K. (2016). Fantastic beasts and where to find them: The original screenplay. Pottermore Publishing.
- 45. Simonetta, M. A., & Luis, K. (2018). "The Tale of the Three Brothers." Harvard University Press
- 46. Singer, R. (2011). Harry Potter and the Battle for the Soul: The Revival of the Psychomachia in Secular Fiction. *Heroism in the Harry Potter Series*. Editors: Berndt, Katrin and Lena Steveker. Surrey: Ashgate,. (25-38). Print.
- 47. Stojilkov, A. (2015). Life (and) death in Harry Potter: The Immortality of Love and Soul. *Mosaic: a journal for the interdisciplinary study of literature*, 48. (133-148).
- 48. Strimel, C. B. (2004). The politics of terror: Rereading Harry Potter. *Children's literature in education*, *35*(1), (35-52).
- 49. Swann Jones, S. (2002). The fairy tale: The Magic Mirror of Imagination. Routledge.
- 50. Theme Examples and Definition of Theme as a literary device. (2021). Literary Devices. Retrieved: 2021, September 5. https://literarydevices.net/theme/
- 51. Vijayan, A. V., & Haider, M. K. (2016). The existence of fairytale, folklore, and myths in fantasy: A study based on JK Rowling's Harry Potter series. *International Journal of English Language, Literature and Humanities, 4* (2), (420-428).
- 52. Warner, M. (2014). Once upon a time: A short history of fairy tale. OUP Oxford.
- 53. Web chat with J. K. Rowling July 30, 2007. On Bloomsbury.com. Retrieved July 10, 2021, from http://www.raincoast.com/harrypotter/pdfs/webchat-jkr.pdf.
- 54. Weiss, J. (2018). Harry Potter Becomes Best-selling Book Series in History With More Than 500 Million Copies Sold Worldwide. SYFY Wire. https://www.syfy.com/syfywire/harry-potter-becomes-best-selling-book-series-in-history-with-more-than-500-million-copies
- 55. Werewolf Legends. (2018). HISTORY. Retrieved: August 28, 2021. https://www.history.com/topics/folklore/history-of-the-werewolf-legend

- 56. Zipes, J. (1988). The changing function of the fairy tale. *The Lion and the Unicorn*, 12(2), (7-31).
- 57. Zipes, J. (2001). The Phenomenon of Harry Potter, or Why All the Talk?. *Children's Literature: Classic Texts and Contemporary Trends*, (170-199).
- 58. ZIPES, J. (2012). A fairy tale is more than just a fairy tale. Retrieved from <a href="https://dl.wqtxts.lxzle7.cloudfront.net/33071382/Fairy_Tale_More_than_Fairy_Tale-with-cover-page-v2.pdf?Expires=1631864318&Signature=d31KpiFo16P2~q3WcAURzlRT5rUtjOxEC-8X-Nebxm0IS6CaYoDUZQ0sEos~qiXYkf4b5jJIZveNwEO6Y-u3EDBOVciYNa8dBFOSAVIpX9eSImx6vC9LjEx6rsxucBUmsopN003aXF-kp7dCQHXfWYNzEUXAgmNwNvOY8FWx6yTMgOGJ1yueqR5DP2rcuL6laaQYXwCRZr5r1AggMD1wByKU9Kgd7WuznlKrAh0s42kUClnAm9puJGSO~ynR37ZnMPfID~piBAKeUCw44Qh568lQP93fSMmdseO1RWWNMBBXvrciPZmJeGkd7SVQd6r~IMNA8YrpZyUYKPXqTE7Q_&Key-Pair-Id=APKAJLOHF5GGSLRBV4ZA
- 59. Zipes, J. (2013). Why fairy tales stick: The evolution and relevance of a genre. Routledge.

Učiteljski fakultet		
Odsjek za učiteljske studije		
Izjava o samostalnoj izradi rada		
Izjavljujem da sam ja, Lea Kalazić, studentica Odsjeka za učiteljske studije Učiteljskog fakulteta u Zagrebu samostalno provela aktivnosti istraživanja literature i napisala diplomski		
rad natemu "Elements of Folktale and Fairy Tale is	n Harry Potter and the Deathly Hallows".	
U Zagrebu, 20. rujna 2021.		
	Detein	
	Potpis:	